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The IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE WESTERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS 

SAN ANTONIO DIVISION 
 

AUSTIN TSCHIRHART  §  
      § 
V.      § Civil Action No._5:23-cv-846_ 
      § 
THE CITY OF SAN ANTONIO § 
BY AND THROUGH ITS AGENT § 
THE SAN ANTONIO FIRE  § 
DEPARTMENT AND GERRILYN § 
CASALS     §  
 

PLAINTIFF’S ORIGINAL COMPLANT 
 

TO THE HONORABLE JUDGE OF SAID COURT: 
 
 NOW COMES PLAINTIFF AUSTIN TSCHIRHART (“Plaintiff” or 

Tschirhart”), complaining of DEFENDANTS THE CITY OF SAN ANTONIO BY 

AND THROUGH ITS AGENT THE SAN ANTONIO FIRE DEPARTMENT 

“SAFD”) and GERRILYN CASALS (“Casals”) and files this Plaintiff’s Original 

Complaint, asserting claims for discrimination based on sex under Title VII and the 

Texas Commission on Human Rights Act as well as retaliation for opposing sex 

discrimination in violation of Title VII and the Texas Commission on Human Rights 

Act.   

I.  
PARTIES, JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

1. Plaintiff Austin Tschirhart is an individual and a citizen and resident of 

Texas and is a former employee of Defendant SAFD.  He worked for SAFD in San 
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Antonio, Texas and all relevant events occurred in San Antonio, Texas, which is 

within this Court’s district.  

2. Defendant The City of San Antonio by and through its agent the San 

Antonio Fire Department, is a governmental entity conduction operations in the State 

of Texas in the Western District of Texas, San Antonio Division.  Defendant may be 

served by serving the City Attorney Andrew Segovia at Office of the City Attorney, 

203 S. St. Mary’s Street, 2nd Floor, San Antonio, Texas 78205.  A waiver of service 

has been requested. 

3. Defendant Gerrilyn Casals is an individual who was employed by 

SAFD at all times relevant to this action and who acted in the interests of the 

employer SAFD as defined in §§21.141 and 142 of the Texas Labor Code.  Casals 

may be served with process by serving the City Attorney Andrew Segovia at Office 

of the City Attorney, 203 S. St. Mary’s Street, 2nd Floor, San Antonio, Texas 78205.  

A waiver of service has been requested. 

4. This Court has jurisdiction to hear the merits of Plaintiff’s Title VII 

claims due to the federal question raised pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §1331. 

5. This Court has supplemental jurisdiction over Plaintiff’s state law 

claims under the Texas Commission on Human Rights Act pursuant to 28. U.S.C. 

§1331.   
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6. All of the acts alleged herein occurred in San Antonio, Bexar County, 

Texas, and are within the jurisdiction and district of this Court. 

II. 
FACTUAL BACKGROUND 

7. Plaintiff Austin Tschirhart worked for Defendant SAFD as a fire fighter 

from November of 2018 until he was unlawfully constructively discharged due to 

his sexual orientation and opposition to sex discrimination in November of 2021.   

8. Defendant Gerrilyn Casals was a Lieutenant who supervised Plaintiff 

during a portion of the time he worked at SAFD.  She was aware that Plaintiff was 

being discriminated against due to his sexual orientation, but rather than taking 

corrective action, she told Plaintiff that he would not be welcome back to work.    

9. Tschirhart began the process of applying for employment with SAFD 

in 2018.  He met with investigator Jay Fuentes with SAFD who was performing a 

pre-employment background check in November 2021.   

10. Fuentes advised Tschirhart to remove any mention of his sexual 

orientation from his social media and to not tell anyone at SAFD that he was gay 

until after his probationary employment period was over. 

11. Fuentes also told Tschirhart that if others at SAFD knew that he was 

gay that word would get around quickly between the firefighters and that they may 

not support Tschirhart during an emergency.   
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12. Tschirhart completed the SAFD training and graduated from the 

academy in April 2020.  His first assignment was a 1 month assignment at Station 

17. 

13. During his first week on assignment as a firefighter, he was called a 

“faggot” on two occasions by firefighters David Murillo and Peter Costanzo.  Jacob 

Hernandez, another probationary firefighter who was not gay or not believed to be 

gay was not treated poorly like Tschirhart. 

14. In May 2020, Tschirhart requested a transfer to the different fire station 

due to the poor treatment he was subjected to due to his sexual orientation.  Fire 

Chief Lee found out about the request and asked Tschirhart why he wanted to move.  

Tschirhart informed the chief that it was for personality reasons.   

15. Tschirhart did not want to tell the Chief that the reason he wanted to 

move was because he was being treated badly due to his sexual orientation because 

he was concerned about retaliation. 

16. The Lieutenant at station 17 gave Tschirhart a poor review stating that 

Tschirhart did not want to train with the crew or be around them.  Tschirhart was 

trying to avoid poor treatment the others subjected him to due to his sexual 

orientation. 

17. In November, 2020, at the end of his probationary period, Tschirhart 

requested a transfer to Station 48 as a permanent assignment and was given it.  
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18. A couple of weeks after Tschirhart started at Station 48 he learned that 

there was gossip about him circulating among others at the department.   Tschirhart’s 

District Chief Brook Hildreth discussed these with Lieutenant Gerrilyn Casals.  

Tschirhart was informed that the rumors came from Station 17.   

19. Tschirhart met with Chief Hildreth and told her that he believed this 

was happening because he was gay.  Chief Hildreth told Tschirhart to contact HR 

and he did. 

20. On December 9, 2020, Tschirhart submitted a statement to the City of 

San Antonio Human Resources Department.  In it he described how he had been 

treated and stated his concerns that other firefighters would not help him because he 

was gay.  Tschirhart further told HR that he had expressed these concerns to both 

Lieutenant Gerrilyn Casals and the Station Chief, Brooke Hildreth.   

21. Over time, Tschirhart’s co-workers’ interactions with him got worse 

and worse.   

22. In May of 2021, Chief Hildreth asked Tschirhart if he would volunteer 

to work from Station 46 until the new assignment list came out.  Tschirhart agreed. 

23. When the transfer list was made available in November 2021, Chief 

Hildreth told Tschirhart that he would need to get a permanent position at Station 46 

if he wanted to stay there, otherwise he would be sent back to Station 48.   
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24. Tschirhart saw that other firefighters with more seniority, and therefore 

higher priority on transfers, were applying for Station 46, he decided to apply for 

Station 48. 

25. On November 17, 2021, Tschirhart was contacted by Lieutenant Casals 

from Station 48.  She told Tschirhart that although she could not officially tell him 

not to come back, that he would not be welcome at the station and needed to find 

somewhere else to go. 

26. Tschirhart requested a transfer to Station 14 in his district.  After doing 

so, Tschirhart began to receive calls from firefighters at Station 14.   

27. Osama Elkhaili, a firefighter from Station 14 called Tschirhart and told 

him that he should not request assignment on the A shift at Station 14 because a crew 

from Station 17 was coming over and his request for that assignment was “messing 

that up.” 

28. Tschirhart received text messages from Eric Aunkst, a fire fighter from 

the B shift that asked Tschirhart to apply for a different shift because they already 

had someone in mind for the position he was applying for.  

29. Tschirhart also received a call from an unidentified man who asked if 

he was still trying to work at Station 14, when Tschirhart started to answer the caller 

said “we don’t need a faggot at our station” and hung up.   
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30. Tschirhart understood that his position at SAFD would be untenable 

and submitted his resignation. 

III. 
CAUSES OF ACTION 

COUNT 1 – SEX DISCRIMINATION IN VIOLATION OF TITLE VII AND 
THE TCHRA AGAINST DEFENDANT SAFD 

 
31. The evidence will show that Defendant SAFD discriminated against 

Tschirhart based on his sex (sexual orientation/conforming to gender norms) in 

violation of Title VII and the Texas Labor Code.  Specifically, the evidence will 

show that: 

a. Plaintiff is a member of a protected class based on sex. 
(Male/homosexual). 
 

b. Plaintiff was qualified for the position he held with Defendant 
SAFD. (Passed Academy and relevant training). 

 
c. Plaintiff was subject to an adverse employment action. 

(Termination-Constructive Discharge). 
 

d. The evidence will demonstrate that Plaintiff was treated less 
favorably than heterosexual/gender-conforming co-workers who 
were not subjected to the same treatment he was and were not 
constructively discharged. (Tschirhart was repeatedly referred to by 
the slur “faggot”, was told that he would not be welcome at different 
stations by both firefighters and management, he had been told by 
SAFD’s own investigator that he would face adverse treatment for 
being gay).   

 

32. Plaintiff re-alleges and incorporates the factual allegations set out 

above as if fully stated herein. 
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COUNT 2 – SEX HARASSMENT IN VIOLATION OF TITLE VII AND 
THE TCHRA AGAINST DEFENDANT SAFD 

 
33. The evidence will further show that Plaintiff was subject to a hostile 

work environment based on sex, sexual orientation, and not conforming to gender 

norms, in violation of Title VII and the Texas Labor Code.  Specifically, the evidence 

will show that: 

a. Plaintiff is a member of a protected group. (Male/homosexual). 

b. Plaintiff was the victim of uninvited sexual harassment. (Was 
repeatedly called a faggot and treated less favorably than 
heterosexual/perceived to be heterosexual gender conforming co-
workers). 
 

c. The harassment was based on sex.  (The treatment and comments 
were based on Plaintiff being male, homosexual, and not 
conforming to gender norms, Tschirhart was called a faggot on 
multiple occasions). 

 
d. The harassment affected a term, condition, or privilege of his 

employment. (The harassment was both severe and pervasive and 
affected both Plaintiff’s mental health and his ability to do his job, 
culminating in his constructive discharge, he was told he was not 
welcome at stations, he had rumors spread about him that negatively 
affected his reputation, he was told “we don’t need a faggot at our 
station”, he had been told that if others knew he was gay they may 
not help him in an emergency.). 

 
e. Defendant SAFD knew or should have known of the harassment and 

failed to take prompt remedial action. (Plaintiff reported the 
harassment and instead of correcting it, SAFD took no action and 
even told him he would not be welcome). 

 
34. Plaintiff re-alleges and incorporates the factual allegations above as if 

fully stated herein.  
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COUNT 3 – RETALIATION FOR REPORTING SEX DISCRIMINATION 
AND HARASSMENT IN VIOLATION OF TITLE VII AND THE TCHRA 

AGAINST DEFENDANT SAFD 
 

35. The evidence will show that Defendant SAFD retaliated against 

Plaintiff because he complained about sex discrimination, in violation of Title VII 

and the Texas Labor Code. Specifically: 

a. Plaintiff engaged in protected activity. (Reporting sexually 
discriminatory and harassing conduct, Tschirhart made formal 
complaints in December 2020, also made informal complaints). 
 

b. An adverse employment action occurred. (Plaintiff was terminated, 
constructive discharge, by SAFD). 

 
c. A causal link exists between the protected activity and the adverse 

employment action. (The other employees’ treatment of Tschirhart 
worsened after he made complaints, he was told he was not welcome 
at stations where he had made complaints, ultimately leading to his 
constructive discharge). 

 
36. Plaintiff re-alleges and incorporates the factual allegations above as if 

fully stated herein. 

COUNT 4 – UNLAWFUL EMPLOYMENT PRACTICE – FAILING TO 
CORRECT SEXUAL HARASSMENT IN VIOLATION OF TEXAS LABOR 

CODE §21.141 ET. SEQ. AGAINST DEFENDANT CASALS 
 

37. The evidence will show that Defendant Casals violated §21.141 and 

§21.142 of the Texas Labor Code by not taking immediate and appropriate 

corrective action to remedy sexual harassment against Plaintiff.  Specifically: 

a. Casals was an employer as defined by Tex. Lab. Code. 
§21.141(1)(B) in that she acted directly in the interests of the 
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employer SAFD in relation to the employee Tschirhart. (Lieutenant, 
member of management, responsible for directing Tschirhart and 
other firefighters). 
 

b. Tschirhart was subject to sexual harassment as defined by Tex. Lab. 
Code. §21.141(2)(C) and (D) in that he was subject to verbal 
conduct of a sexual nature that had the purpose and effect of 
unreasonably interfering with Tschirhart’s work performance and 
created an intimidating, hostile, or offensive working environment. 
(Tschirhart was repeatedly called a faggot and mistreated due to his 
sexual orientation). 

 
c. Casals knew  or should have knew that the conduct constituting 

sexual harassment was occurring; (Tschirhart reported the treatment 
to Casals and others in management at Station 48) and, 

 
d. Casals failed to take immediate and appropriate corrective action. 

(Rather than try to stop the harassment of Tschirhart, Casals did the 
opposite and told him he was not welcome at Station 48, this took 
place in November 2021, after §§21.141-142 came into effect).  

 
IV.  

JURY DEMAND 

38. Plaintiff requests trial by jury on all claims. 

V. 
PLAINTIFF HAS EXHAUSED ADMINISTRATIVE REMEDIES 

39. Plaintiff filed his Charge of Discrimination concurrently with the Equal 

Employment Opportunity Commission and Texas Workforce Commission alleging 

that the Defendants had committed unlawful employment practices against him in 

violation of Title VII and the TCHRA. 
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40. Thereafter, Plaintiff received a “Notice of Right to Sue,” dated April 

10, 2023, giving Plaintiff notice of his right to sue Defendants within 90 days of its 

receipt.    

41. Plaintiff has exhausted all administrative remedies and timely files this 

suit. 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

 Wherefore, Plaintiff requests that on final trial, Plaintiff have judgment 

against Defendants as follows: 

1. Judgment against Defendants for Plaintiff’s actual damages, including 
lost wages, bonuses, salary and benefits (both back pay and front pay), in an 
amount to be determined by the jury; 
 
2. Judgment against Defendants for Plaintiff’s compensatory damages for 
mental anguish, inconvenience, and damages to his professional reputation, 
past and future, in an amount to be determined by the jury; 
 
3. An order that Defendants take such other and further actions as may be 
necessary to redress Defendants’ violation and any other applicable claims 
including reinstatement, if warranted or feasible; 

 
4. Pre-judgment and post-judgment interest at the maximum amount 
allowed by law; 
 
5. Costs of suit, including expert’s fees and attorney’s fees; 
 
6. The award of such other and further relief, both at law and in equity, 
including injunctive relief and reinstatement, to which Plaintiff may be justly 
entitled. 
 
 

Respectfully submitted, 
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PONCIO LAW OFFICES  
A Professional Corporation 
5410 Fredericksburg Road, Suite 109 
San Antonio, Texas  78229-3550 
Telephone: (210) 212-7979 
Facsimile: (210) 212-5880 
 
/s/Adam Poncio 
ADAM PONCIO 
State Bar No. 16109800 
Salaw@msn.com 
ALAN BRAUN 
State Bar No. 2405488 
abraun@ponciolaw.com 
 
ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFF 

 

 

 
 

Case 5:23-cv-00846   Document 1   Filed 07/07/23   Page 12 of 12

mailto:Salaw@msn.com
mailto:abraun@ponciolaw.com


The City of San Antonio by and through its Agent the San Antonio Fire
Department and Gerrilyn Casals

Case 5:23-cv-00846   Document 1-1   Filed 07/07/23   Page 1 of 1


